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Review of the Group's business
InternetQ’s holdings have been carefully curated to amplify the focus upon the fastest moving growth areas in the mobile

economy. All the key drivers that comprise the industry, have seen continued maturation and development towards highly
commercial ends. Smartphone penetration has continued to expand towards the mukiple billions In terms of devices being
used globatly {S.3 billion smartphones by 2020} and mobile advertising has overtaken online in key markets {like the UK) by
both revenue and volume. As such, the Minimob business unit is at the forefront of a market shift of seismic proportions,
and given the immediately effective nature of the restructuring and careful cost control, the attendant business areas all

remain in good stead.

A summary of key financial results is set out in the table below and discussed in this section:

Financial Results 2018 (€} 2017 (€) % increase / (decrease)
Non-Akazeo revenues 69.582.753 75.078.878 7%
Akazoo revenues 104.673.517 85.358.335 17%

! Total revenues 174.256.271 164.437.213 . 6% l
Adjusted EBITDA* 18.225.578 20.689.3D01 ~12%
Adjusted o_peratlnggroﬁt' 2.310.966 7.437.830 -59% )

§ Adjusted profit after tax 3,376.755 4.585.509 -26% -
EBITDA 18.231.628 20.688.301 -12%
Operating (loss)/profit 1.166.667 6,287,481 -81%

: (Loss)/Profit after tax (2.5499.113) {2.057.738) 24%

*Refer to note 7 for the definition of the adjusted results,

Group revenues increased by 6% in 2018, with the Akazoo business delivering substantial sales growth. Revenues from Non-
Akazoo activities decreased by 7% to €69.6 million (2017: €75.1 million) while revenues from Akazoo increased by 17% to

€104.7 million (2017: €89.4 million).

Operating costs increased by 10% from Akazoo business. Adjusted EB{TDA (note 7) decreased by 12% to €18.2 million (2017:
€20.7 million), a margin of 10% (2017: 13%). The adjusted profit after income tax (note 7} for the year decreased to €3.4

million compared to €4.6 million for 2017,

Our Statement of Financial Positicn at 31 December 2018 is summarized in the table below:

Financial Position Assets [€) Labillties (€) Net assets {€)
Property, plant & equlpment & investment properties 2.026.964 2.026.964
Goodwill & intangible assets 83.708.591 83.708.,591
Other non-current assets and liab:lities 376.861 (63.631.964) {63.255.103)
Deferred tax 825.354 {1.146.573) {321.219)
Other current assets and liabilities 66.103.458 (28.304.689) 37.798 769

| Total before net cash 153.041.228 (93.083.226) 59.958.002 °

_ Net cash (including restricted cash) 2.010.069 {12.467.516) {10.457.447)

: Tortai as at 31 December 2018 155.05%,297 (105.550.742) 49,500,555 !

j Totai as at 31 December 2017 152.642.412 [101.150.807) 51.491.605 !

In March 2018 the Group entered into a new credit facility agreement for the amount of €10 million. The facility may be
utllized as an overdraft bearing an interest of 3.15% p.a., as a money market loan bearing an interest of Eurlbor pius 2.7%
p.a., for guarantees and for import fetters of credit. This credit facility has a term until 26.02.2020.
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The Group generated €19 million (2017 €8.3 million} in cash from operating activities. Receivables days outstanding
decreased to 134 days (2017: 155 days) and its cash conversion tycle to 85 days (2017 82 days) as the collection cycle of
some Mobile Marketing Campaigns decreased.

Summary

As the Group transitions into 2019, all indicators point toward a highly successful period of reinvestment and cansolidation,
especially in terms of the technical delivery of 2 sophisticated and scalable Minimoh platform - and the imminent realization
of the programmatic future.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk

Remaining
competitive in a
fast developing
market ~ Mobile
Marketing

Failure to retain
and motivate key

people

Significant failure/
interruption to
network or T
Systems

Failure ta keep up
to date with fast
evplving
technology

Risks
International
Operatlons

from

impact on Group

Mobile marketing s growing

rapidly as the moblle ecosystem .

evplves and InternetQ reeds to
continue to innovate and provide
exceptional  service to  an
increasing breadth of customers.

Technology and markating
competence and innovatian is
crivcal to the Group's
performance and is  highly

dependent on the expertise of the
Directors snd key employees.

A failure or interruption to
networks or IT system would
result n high financizl impact
since all the value of the business
15 derived from such technalogy.

An impartant part of the Group’s
job is staying up to date
Technologies and the ideas
surrounding these technologies
and the things we can do with
them are constantly evolving and
neglecting to keep up with them
could adversely affect the Group's
performance.

The Group 15 exposed to a vanety

of risks and challenges In
managing an organization
pperating in varous countries,

mcluding some less developed,
emerging markets. The regulatory
frameworks may change and
adversely impact our business.
Local culture differences may
cause Increased risk.

Assessment of change in risk
year-on-year

Buslness Risks

A growing market encourages
new entrants but it also shakes
weaker players.

The Group continues to have a
low turnover of employees and

' the Greek econoy continues to

offar a good supply of high quality
people. InternetQ has a good
reputatron as an employer n
Athens and has won a presugious
HR award

The Group has not experienced
any issues ta date in regard 1o this
risk. It has continuad to invest in
improved technical infrastructure
and process to protect itself from
cybercnme and other failures,

Ouring 2018, the Group carried
major upgrades of its mobile
advertising platform, Minimob
and introduced several new
features on its music-streaming
platform, Akazoo,

The Group’'s operations are
largely managed centralfy which
contains the risk.

Mitigation of Risk

We monitor competition closely and
rapidly introduce new advertising
formats to Minimob. We have
achieved a high penetration of
appiication developers. We promote
a cormpany culture that embraces and
encourages continuous change.

The Group also has competitive
remuneration packages in place to
secure the services of the Directors
and key employees.

The Group has rigorous controls to
ma:ntain and secure our operaticns,
including mult-site back up of key
systemns. Additionally the Group has
develpped, impiemented and tested a
disaster recovery plan.

The Group has strong product and
market knowledge which is enriched
through new partmerships and active
participation In trade shows and
exhibitions

The risk is partially mitigated by
aperating across a diverse range of
territories and maintaining group
wide nternal contro!  processes
including common  systems and
financial repotting, group palicies and
strong HR processes. During 2018 the
Group has significantly decreased the
amount of subsidiaries abroad.
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Risk Impact on Group

Forelgn currency  The Group's exposure to the

risk risk of changes in foreign
exchange rates relates primarily
to the Group’s operating
activities and the Group's
investments in foreign
subsidiaries.

Going concern

Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Assessment of change in risk Mitigation of Risk
year-on-year

Financial Risks

The Group exposure to foreign : The Group mitigates this risk by
exchange risk decreased in holding most of the cash in Euros in
2018 as a number of * tier 1 banks and reviewing their FX
subsidiaries were elther closed ' hedging policy annually. The risk is
or sold. The majority of the also mitigated by holding costs and
Group’s operational costs are revenues in the same focal

either In the same currency as currency so attaining a natural

the local sales or in Greece, hedge.

which is in the Euro zone. Thus,
there is a natural trading hedge
within individual countries

between sales and direct costs.

The directors consider that the Group has considerable financial and other resources to manage its business risks successfully,
as it has a diverse range of businesses across different geographical areas and remains financially strong. Accordingly, the
directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and
therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financlal statements.

For further information related to the Group’s business rlsks and financial position please refer to the Strategic Report,
section “Principal risks and vncertainties” as well as to note 28 Financial risk management objectives and policies section

“Capital Management”,

(Chief Executive Officer)
16 December 2019
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their Annuat Report on the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements and auditor’s
repuart, for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Details of significant events since the end of the reporting period are ¢ontained in note 29 to the financial statements. An
indication of likely future developments in the business of the Company and details of research and development activities
are included in the Strategic Report. Information about the use of financial instruments by the company and its subsidiaries
is given in note 28 to the financial statements.

Business review
The Group offers mobile marketing solutions and digital entertainment that enables brands, MNOs and media companies to

design and implement targeted, interactive and measurable campaigns by engaging with and entertaining mabite network
subscribers via their mobile devices. For the review of the business during the year piease refer to the Strategic Report

inctuded within the Annual Report.

Dividends
At present, the directors consider that it may be more prudent ta retain cash to fund the expansion of the Group and as a

result, feel it ts inappropriate to give an indicatian of the likely level or timing of any future dividend payout (2017: nil).

Directors
The directors, who served within 2018 were as follaws
- Panagiotis Dimitropovlos {CEC and Founder)

Veronica Nocetti {CFO)
- David Calder {Non- Execut've Directorj
On 12 September 2619 Mr. David Calder resigned from his office as a director of the Company,

Subsequent events
In September 2019, the Group completed its merger of Akazoo business with Modern Media Acquisition Corp.. Further details

are provided at note 29

Directors’” Statement as to Disclosure of Information to Auditors
Having made enquiries of fellow directors and of the Group and the Company's Auditors, each directar confirms that to the
best of each director's knowledge and belief, thera is no information relevant to the preparation of their report of which the

Group and the Company’s auditors are unaware.

The Directars of the Group have taken all the steps that they rright reasonably be expected to have taken as directors in
aorder to make themselves aware of any informat'on needed by the Group's auditors in connection with preparing their report
and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:
s sofar as the director is aware, there 15 no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are unaware;

and
« the director has taken ail the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmeation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006,

The directors are responsibie for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company's website, Legislation tn the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions
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Directors’ Report {continued)

Auditors
The auditors, AGK Partners, were appointed during the year and their re-appointment will be proposed at the forthcoming

Annual Generai Meeting,

Approved/

If\
A

/’ Veronica
* * (Director
16 Decgrhbr 2019
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with appticable

faw and regulations.

Company faw requires the directors to prepare financial statements for gach financial year. Under that law the directors have
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Unlon. Under company law the directors must not approve the finaneial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that
period. In preparing these financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

properly select and apply accounting policies;

. present information, including accounting policies, in 2 manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;
. provide additional disciosures when compliance with the specific requirements in 1FRSs are insufficient to enabie

users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other evants and conditicrnts on the entity's financial
position and financial performance; and
. make an assessment of the company's abitity to continue as a gelng concern.

The directors are responsible for keep'ng adeguate accounting recerds that are sufficient to show and explain the company's
transactions and disclose with reasonabie accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsibie for safeguarding the
assets of t?‘,’ company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other

irregularitied 4

:,r

¥
&ﬁérﬁch efti
itector, & Chaef Finangial Officer}

16 Decem 019
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of InternetQ Group Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of internet Q Group Limited [the 'Parent Company'} and its subsidiaries (the
'Group') for the year ended 31 December 2018 which comprise the Consaolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, the Consalidated Statement of Financial Position, the Company
Statement of Financial Pgsition, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Company Statement of Changes in
£quity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Company Statement of Cash Flows and Notes to the Financial
Statemnents, including @ summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in their preparation is applicable law and Internaticnal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Urion and. as regards the Parent Company flnancial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the

Companies Act 2006,

In gur opinion:
- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as

at 31 Decemnber 2018 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended,
the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European

Unign;
- the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with \FRSs as adopted by the
European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; 2nd

the finarcial statements have been prepared in accordance with the reguirements of the Campanies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our avdit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs {UK)) and applicable law. Our

responsibilities Jnder those standards are further describea In the Auditors’ responsibiiities for the audit of the financial
statements section of oLr report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical reguirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilied our
other ethica! responsiblilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and apnpropriate ta provide a basis for our opinian.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the (5As (UK) require us to report to you

where:
the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the prevaration of the financial statements is not

appropriate; or

- the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least
twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other Informatlon
The directers are responsible for the other infarmation. The other information comprises the information in the Group

Strategic Report, the Report of the Directors and the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, but does not include the
financial staternents and our Report of the Augitors thereor.

Our opinion on the financlal statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in cur report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with pur audit of the finantial statements, our respansibility is to read the other information and, in doing 5o,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent weth the financial statements or our knowiedge aobtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materiaily misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent materiat
rmisstatements, we are required to datermine whether there is @ material misstatement in the financial statements or a
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this

regard.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of InternetQ Group Limited (continued)

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Campanies Act 2006

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the infarmation given in the Group Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

- the Group Strategic Report and the Repart of the Directors have been prepared in accordance with applicabie legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its environment abtained ir the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Group Strategic Report or the Report of the
Birectors.
Wa have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,
in our apinion’
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting recerds and returns; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law sre not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page five, the directors are responsible for

the preparation of the financial szatements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal
control as the directors determine necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statermnents that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or errar

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Parent Company's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related ta going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directars either intena to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are ¢ obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssue a Report of the Auditors that inciudes our opinion, Reasonabile
assurance Is & high level of assurance, but is no a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 15As (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the econorric decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council's website at www.frc org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Report of the Auditors.

Use of our report
This report is made sclely to the Company's membaers, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies

Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are
required to state to them in a Report of the Auditors and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audit
waork, for this repart, or for the opinions we have formed.

Alekos Christofi FCCA {Senior Statutory Auditor)
tor and on hehalf of AGK Partners

1 Kings Avenue, London N21 3NA

16 December 2019
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Ty i SEatuep s
For the years ended 31 Decembar 2018 and 2017

{Amounts in Euro unless otherwise stated)

Group Company
Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017
Revenues 7 174.256.271 164.437.213 . .
Direct cost of revenues (137.324.078) (129.236.751) - -
Gross profit 36.932.193 35.200.462 - -
Other operating income 8 388.290 2.765.884 . .
Operating expenses 8 {19 058.750) {16.532.517} {77.112) {79.776)
Other operating expenses 8 {30.105} (344.528) - -
Depreciation and amaortisation 8 {17.064.961) (14,401.820) - -
Operating profit /{loss) 1.166.667 6.287.481 (77.112) {79.776)
flnance costs g (6.941.813) {8.591 447} {5.540.3486) {4.767.529)
Finance income 9 994.030 307.487 16.528.050 9.822
Profit /(loss) before Income tax (4.781.116) (1.396.479) 11.010.592 (4.837.482)
Income tax 10 2.232.003 {661.259) - .
Profit /(boss} after Income tax {2.549.113) {2.057.738) 11.010.592 {4.837.482)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Campany {3.120.067) {4.067,985) 11.010.592 (4.837.482)
Non-controlling interest 20 1.570.954 2.010.247 - -
{2.549.113) {2.057.738) 11.010,592 {4.837.482)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements (Page 10 to Page 51, Note 1 1o Note 29).
All results are derived from continuing opearations.

10
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Seatsenonds 0 Comprobeoshye Income
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

{Amounts in Euro untess otherwise stated)

Group Company
Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017
Profit /(loss) for the year {2.549.113) {2.057.738) 11.010.592  (4.837.482)

Other comprehensive income
items that may be reclassifieg
subseguently to profit or ioss

Exchange differences cn translation of 504.508 2.481.621 539.495 1676.979
forelgn operations

{tems that may not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

:;r:-n;aﬂs:;:ment of defined benefi 13.562 6.226

Other comprehensive Income for the year 518.070 2.487.847 539.495 1.676.979

Total comprehensive Income/{loss) for the yaar {2.031.043) 430.109 11,550.087 (3.160.503)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company {3.601.997) {1.580.138) 11.550.087 {3.160.503)

Non-controliing interest 20 1.570.954 2.010.247 - -
{2.031.043) 430.109 11.550.087 {3.160.503)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements {Page 10 to Page 51, Note 1 to Note 29).

11
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Group Company

Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 1.627.964 2.206,127 - -
Investrment properties 399,000 393,000 - -
Investrment in subsidiaries 12 - - 102.824.615 91.848.162
Goodwill i3 20.668.153 20.668.153 - -
Intangible assets 14 £3.040.438 56,916.169 - R
Non-current financial assets 15 108.627 109.627 -
Other pon-current assets 267.234 315 802 -
Deferred tax assets 10 B25.354 138.357 - -
Tota! non-current assets 86.937.710 80.747.235 102.824.615 91,848,162
Current assets
Trade recelvables 16 64.421.699 62.603 683 -
Other receivables 17 1.681 755 5.582517 17,264,137 12.899.032
Cash and cash equivalents i8 2.010.069 3.708.977 - 2.131
Restricted cash 18 - . .
Total current assets 68.113.527 71.895.177 27.264.137  12.901.153
Total assets 155.051.297 152.642.412 130.088.752 104.740.325
Equity and liabllities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Share capitat 19 108.055 108.055 108.055 108.055
Share premium 19 1.163.455 1.163.455 1.163.455 1.163 455
QOther components of equity 19 . .
Other capital reserves {1.962.306} {1.975.868) -
Merger refief reserve 19 9,533,962 9,533.962 9,533,962 9.533.562
Common control merger reserve 19 (67.399.560) (9.597.010} 24.326.538 29.420.669
Exchange differences 7.848.320 7.343.812 8.500.414 7 960.919
Retained earnings 74.094.217 20.371.741 13.508.874 (2.635.842)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 23.386.143 26.948.147 57.141.298  45.551.218
Non-controlling interest 20 26.114.412 24.543.458 - -
Total equity 49.500.555 51.491.605 57.141.298 45.551.218
Non-current liabilities
tong term foans 21 8.500.500 100.000 8.500,500 -
Other ngn-current financial liabllities 2 61.497.047 56.883 518 61.497.047 56.883.518
Derivative financlal liability 23 2.027.435 2.247.780 2.027.435 2.247.780
Other non-current liabilities 107.482 117.977 - -
Deferred tax liabllities 10 1.146.573 2.692.455 - -
Total non-current liabllitles 73.279.037 62.041.7390 72.024.982 59.131.298
Current liabilities
Trade payables 24 20.528.359 21.120.508 59.099 62.931
Short term loans 21 3.842.016 9.814.178 829.719 -
Current portion of long term loans 21 125.000 375.000 -
Income tax payable 4.863.431 4,852,788 - -
Dther liabilities 25 2.512.899 2.946.602 33.654 3.878
Total current liabilities 32.271.705 39.109.077 922.472 66.809
Total Habllities 105.550.742 101.150.807 72.947.454 59.198.107

155.051,297 1%2.642.312 130.088.752 104.749.325

Total equity and liabitities

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of the financlal statements (Page 10 to Page 51, Note 1 to Note 29).

12
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Statements of Financia! Positien (continued)

The financial statements of internetQ Group Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2018 were approved and authorlzed for
issue by the Company’s board of directors on 9 December 2019.

Panagiotis Dimitropoulos Veronica N
Chief Executive Officer Chief FiAg
16 December 2019 ’

13
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For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017
{Amounts in Euro uniess otherwise stated)

Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Other Commen . Non-
al her capital ™

of equity reserve g5 el interest
Balance at 1 Januvary 2017 108.055 1.163.455 3.905.92% {1.050.963) 9.533.962 (4.833.904) 4.862.191 19.686.370 33.395.095 22.533.212 55.928.307
|Loss)/Profit after income tax - - - - {4.067.985) (4.067.985) 2.010.247 {2.057.738)
Other comprehensive income - - 6.226 - 24816271 - 2.487 847 - 1.487.847
Total comprehensive income/{loss) - - - 6.226 - - 2.481.621 (4.067.985) {1.580.138) 2.010.247 430.109
Contingent considerations (Note 19} - (3.905.9249) (931.131) - - . - {4.837.060} - (4.837.080)
Non controiling interest increase (Note 20) 84.030 - - 84.030 - 34.030
Adjustments arising from Group rearganization - - - - {4.867.137) - 4.753.3% (113.781) - {113.781)
Balance at 31 December 2017 1DB.0S5 1.163.455 - (1.975.368) 9.533.962 (9.597.010) 7.343.817 20371741 26.948.147 24.543.458 51.491.605
Profit/(loss) after income tax - - - - - (4.120.067) {4120067) 1570.954 {2.549.113)
Other comprehensive income - - 13.562 504.508 - 518070 $18.070
Tatal comprehensive income/(loss} - - - 13.562 - - 504.508 (4.120.067) {3.601.997) 1.570.954 {2.031.043)
Derivative financlal liability decrease 211,049 - - 211,049 211.049
Unwinding of loan notes discount - - - - {5.305.180} - 5134124 [171.056) (171.058)
Adjustments arising from Group reorganization - - (52.708.419) - 52,708.419 - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 108.055 1.163.455 - (1.962.306) 9.533.962 {67.359.560) 7.84832¢ 74.084.217 23.386.143 26.114.412 49.500.555

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements {Page 10 to Page 51, Note 1to Note 29},
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r reli n i Noo-
conp B i M S s S cwieg T
Balance at 1 january 2016 - - - - - - -
Loss after income tax - - {2551.716) {2.551.716} {2.551.716)
Other comgprehensive income - 5.283 940 6.283.940 - 6.283.940
Total comprehensive income/{loss} - - - 6283.940 (2.551.716) 3.732.224 - 3.732.224
Share capital increase (Note 19) 108055 1.163.455 4.533.962 - - - 10.805.472 10.805.472
Recognition of loan notes at inception at FV - - . 36.617.103 - 36.617.103 36.617.103
Derivative financial liabllity (2.413.327} - . {2.413.327) - (2.413.327)
Balance at 31 December 2016 108.055  1.163.455 9.533.962 34.203.776  5.233.940 (2.551.716) 48.7a1402 - 48.741.472
Loss after income tax - - 14.837.482) (4.837.482) - (4.837.482)
Other comprehensive income - 1.676979 . 1.676.979 - 1.676.979
Total comprehensive income/{loas) - - 1676979 (4.837.482) {3.160.503) - (3.160.503)
Derivative financial liability decrease 24.030 - - 84030 - 84.030
Unwinding of loan notes discount {4.867.137) - 475335 {113.781) {113.781}
Balance at 31 December 2017 108.G55 1.163.455 9.533.962 29.420.669 7.960.919 (2.635.342) 45.551.218 - 45.551.218

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements (Page 10 to Page 51, Note 1 to Note 29).
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B Group o Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
{Loss)/Profit before Income tax (4.781.116} {1.396.479) 11.010.592 {4.837.482)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 17.064.960 14 401.820 -
Revajuation of investment property {6.000) 19.800 -
Revaluation of financial assets . 253,133 .
Lass/(gain} fram disposal of financial asset 8358.964 -
{Gain}/loss on disposal of Investments - {660.240) -
Increase in other provisions - - -
Praviston for employee benefits liabifity 65.206 33.514 .
Allgwance for doubtful trade and other receivables 93.688 {22.450} .
Losses/{gains) on disposal of property, plant, and eguipment {3.038) 4.281
Finance income {1.143) {36.096)
Forelgn exchange differences (1) {121.160} . B
Finance tosts 6.126.595 5.564.129 5.406.703 4.767.529
Net cash before working capital changes 18.559.151 18.879.215 16.417.295 {69.953)
Movement in working capital:
Trade receivables {1.792.048) 11.169.490 -
Other receivables 3.861.856 (3.094.844) -
Restricted cash - 107.786 -
Other non-current assets 48.568 55.089 - -
Trade payables {809.111}  (16.263.475) {3.831) 62931
Other Habllities {733 512} {2.409.827) {14.335.329) {7.205.931)
Income taxes pald 12.955 {114.855} - -
Employee benefits liabilities paid (75.701) {16.348} - -
Net cash from operating activitles 18.972.158 8.311.831 2.078.135 {7.212.953)
Cash flows from Investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment (25.990) {319.319) -
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 33.514 48.741 -
Payments for intanglble assets (22.178.972)  {12.177.297) -
Net cash proceeds from disposal of subsidianes {160} -
Acquisition of subsidiarles {net of cash acquired) {3.769.958) (10.976.454)
Proceeds from financial assets - 2.320.328 .
Finance income recejved 1.143 36.096 -
Net cash used in investing activitles {22.170.305) {13.861.569) {10.976.454) -
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments of long term borrowings {349.500) {2.933.500) - -
Proceeds from short term borrowings 2.842.016 3.028.752 B829.719 -
Proceeds in long term borrowlngs 8.500.000 - 8.500.500 -
Payment of short term borrowings (8.814.178) {6 109.024) - -
Finance costs paid (679.059) {870.492) (272.579} {14.173}
Net cash used in financing activities 1.499.239 {6.884.264) 9,057.640 {14.173)
Effect of exchange rates’ changes on flows and cash - - (161.453) (467.462)
Net (decrease)/Incregse In cash and cash equivalents {1.698.908) (12.434.001) [2.131) {7.694.588)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3.708.977 16.142.978 2.131 7.696.719

2.010.069 3.708.977 0 2.131

Cash and cash equlvalents at end of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements (Page 10 to Page 51, Note I to Note 29).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
{Throughout the notes to the financial statements all amounts are in Euro unless otherwise stated.}

LoD eyt onv s

InternetQ Group Ltd {(hereinafter referred to as the "Company”), is incorporated in England and Wales. The Company’s
registered office [s located on 14 Old Queen Street, London SW1H SHP, United Kingdom and the Registered No. is 09798461.

internetQ Group Ltd and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”} are mainly engaged in trading and
development of software and related products and services used in wireless communication and telecommunication.

{a) Basis of preparation and statement of compliance

The accompanying financial statements for both Group and Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis except
for investment properties that have been measured at falr value. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IERS) as endorsed by the European Union {EU) and in compliance with the
requirements of the Companias Act 2006. Adjusted results are presented {(please refer to Note 7) in the accompanying
financial statements in order to improve investors’ understanding of financial results and improve comparability of financial
information from period to period. The Directors have assessed the ability of the Company and the Group te continue
operating as a golng concern and believe that the preparation of these financtal statements on the going concern basis is
appropriate (for further information please refer to the Strategic report on page 2).

The preparation of the financial statements, in accordance with IFRS as endorsed by the EU, requires the use of critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the accounting
policles which have been adopted. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or compiexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to financial statements are disclosed in Note 5.

The financial statements are presented in Eurg {€) the functional currency of the Group.
{b) Basis of Consolidation

{V) Subsidiarles

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. All intercompany balances, transactions, unrealized gains and losses resulting from intercompany
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full on consolidation. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a
subsidiaryacquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Subsidiaries are consclidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date such control ceases. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through lts power over

the investee,
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

*  Power over the investee {i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the

Investee)
*  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

e  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
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2. Bazis uf Preparation {Laninuedy

{i) Subsidiaries {continued)
When the Group has less than a majorfty of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Graup considers all relevant facts

and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investes, including:

» The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
+  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
s The Group’s voting rights and potentlal voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee If facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income {OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent
of the Groug and to the non-controlling interasts, aven if this results in the non-cantrolting interests having a deficit balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies inta fine
with the Group's accounting policies.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of controi, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary

Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests

Derecognizas the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity

Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received

Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained

Recognizes any surpius or deficlt in profit or loss

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in OCi to profit or loss or retained earnings, as
appropriate, as would be reguired if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities

-

{if) Going Concern
Based on all availahle information about the future, the directars consider that there are no material uncertainties that may

cause significant doubt about the company’s ability ta continue as a golng concern; covering such period as they consider
appropriate. Directors expectations are based on a business plan prepared for a period of 18 manths, since the review period
covers a period of at least twelve months frem the date of approval of annual financial statements.

The directors consider that the Group has conslderable financial and other resources to manage its business risks successfully,
as it has a diverse range of businesses across dlfferent geographical areas and remains financially strong, Moreover, the
directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue its operations for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements are as follows:

{a) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controiling
interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interest
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportlonate share of the acquiree’s Identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs
Incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3, Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent cenditions as at the acquisition
date. This 'ncludes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree,

Any contingent consideration to be transferred hy the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that 1s a financial instrument and within the scope of 1AS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at farr value with changes in falr value recognized either

i the profit or toss or as a change to other comprehensive income. if the contingent consideration Is not within the scope of
IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration that is classifled as equity fs not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognized for non-controiling interest over the net identifiable assets acguired and liabilities assumed, if the fair value of
the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the gain s recognized in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill 1s measured at cost less any accumulated impasrment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in @ business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units that are expected to beneflt from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
acquiree are assigned to those units.

(b} Foreign currency translation:
The Company’s functional currency is the British Pound, white eactk entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and the items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

However, the consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Eufo.

Transactions and balances
Transactions n foreigh currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot

rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are transiated at the functional currency spot rates of
exchange at the reporting date.

Differences arising on setttement or translation of monetary items are recognized in profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operaticn, These are
recognized in other camprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the tumulative amount is
reclassified to profit or Joss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on these monetary items are aiso

recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-mpnetary items that are measured In terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Nan-menetary items measured at fair value In a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-
monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain or foss on change in fair value of the
item {i.e.,translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss {s recognized in cther comprehensive income or
profit or fass are also recognized in other comprehensive intome or profit or loss, respectively).

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and fiabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liahilities of the foreign operation and translated at the spot

rate of exchange at the reporting datsa.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Group companies
Cn consolidation, the assets and habilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the rate of exchange prevading

atthe reporting date and their income statements are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
The exchange differences arising on transiation for consolidation are recognized in other comprehensive income. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the compgnent of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation s

recognized in profit or loss.

{c} Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification. An
asset as current wnen it is:
s Expected to be realized or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
o  Held primarily for the purpose of trading
*  Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period, or
® Cashor cash equivaient uniess restrnicted from being exchanged or used to set:le a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period
All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when.
s ftis expected 1o be settled in normal operating cycle
* ltis held primarily for the purpose of trading
¢ Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting penod, or
s Thereis no unconditional right to defer the settlemeant of the liability for at feast tweive months after the reporting
period
The Greup classifies alf other abilties as non-current,
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are cassified as non-current assess and liabifities.

{d) Revenue recognition:
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probabie that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue car

be reliably measured regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
cansideratior received or receivable, taking Into account contractuzlly defined terms of payment and exciuding discounts,
rebates, and taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements agalnst specific criteria in arder to determine 1f it
15 acting as principal or agent. The following spec’fic recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Revenue from services
Revenues of the Group mainly consist of tefecommunications traffic that is generated from the end users/ subscribers

Revenues are recognized at the time such services are provided te subscribers or customers, based on the activity and the
How of premium rate telephone minutes and SMS messages

Mobile marketing campgigns {Minimab)

Minimob 1s an alternative delivery platform to Mobidialog that alsc runs mobile marketing campaigns. Minimob differs in
that there is no aggregato- relationship, rather |Q has the direct relationship with the company (advertiser or gther business}
that wishes to activate a campaign. The campaigns run through Minimob are alsc used by a broader customer base as

opposed to Mobidialog which is constrained to MNQ's,

An advertiser or other business contacts {Qin order to place an ad through |Q's subscriber network. The advertiser proposes
a budget and signs a purchase arder, on a performance basis. 1Q then take that order and match the ad with the in-app
subscriber base through the Minimab software platform with the aim of maximizing the conversion rate of the
advertisement. The more conversions generated, the more revenues earned as IQ is paid on a per converslon (or ¢lick
through) basls, up to the pre-agreed budget cap. Once the budget Is exhausted, the advertiser may decide to run additional
campaigns. [n line with the contractual arrangements the service has been delivered and revenue earned each time a
subscriber responds to the campaign. Revenue is therefare recognized at this time
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MNotes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies [continued)

Music streaming - Akazoo

This revenue is recognized gross as Akazoo is acting as the principal based on the indicators set out in IAS 18. The invoivement
of other parties {such as MNOs) is just to facilitate customer acquisition or payment. 1Q is responsible for the delivery of the
end product ant the customer believes they are contracting with Akazoo.

Revenues are accrued based on the download or subscription volume monitored by the Akazoo platform. (i.e. Revenue s
recorded before the deduction of revenue share payments to network operators).

interest Income

For alf financial instruments measured at amgrtised cost, interest income 1s recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR),
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter perfod, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or [fability.
Interest income is included in finance income in the income statement.

(ej Taxes

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered fram or paid to the taxation autho-ities. The tax rates and tax faws used to compute the amount are those that
are enacted or substantively enacted, by the reporting date, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable

income.

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and nat in the income statement.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisians where appropriate.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes,
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for ail taxable temgorary differences, except:

s Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liabifity \n a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transactlaon, affects neither the accounting profit ror
taxable profit or {oss.

s inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in
joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controfled and it is probabie
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits nd unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temparary
diffarences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except:
¢ Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
« inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests
In joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it 1s probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilized.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies {continued}

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced ta the extent that 1t is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all ar part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are racognized to the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabifities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liahility is settled, based on tax rates {and
tax laws} that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or foss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are
recognized in correlation to the underiying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in eguity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the critena for separate recognition at that date,
are recognized subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is either treated as a
reduction to goodwill {as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or recognized

in profit or toss.

Sofes tax
Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax, except
* When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
which case the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of acguisition of the asset or as part of the expense item,

as applicable
s When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation autherity is included as part of recewvables or
payabies in the statement of financial position.

{f) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated deprediation and/or accumulated Impairment losses, if

any. Cost of the property, plant and equipment inciudes the purchase price of the asset and all necessary expenditures to
prepare the asset for its intended use. Repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the income statement as incurred,
Significant improvements are capitalized tc the cost of the related asset if such improvements increase the life of the asset,

Increase its production capacity or improve its efficiency.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part Initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
{calcuiated as the difference between the net disposal praceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the

income statement when the asset is derecognized.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate,

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as foliows:

* Leasehold improverrents, Amaortised on a straight-iine basis over the pericd of the lease

& Network and computer hargware; 3- 5 years

¢ Transportation assets 7 years

« Furniture and other equipment’ 3 years
(g} Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or cantains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the
incept'on date The arrangement is assessed for whether fulfiliment of the arrangement 15 dependent on the use of a specific
asset or assets or the arrangernent conveys a right 1o use the asset or asscts, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an

arrangemnent.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

{h) Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date Gaing or losses arising from changes
in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit or foss in the period in which they arise, including the
correspanding tax effect. Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited external,
independent valuer, applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee.

Investment properties are deracognized either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn
from use and ne future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposa! proceeds
and the carrying amaunt of the asset is recognized in the income statement in the period of derecognition.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in
use. if owner-cccupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change In yse.

{i} intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a

business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried
at cost less any accumuwated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets,
excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in profit and loss in the period in
which the expenditure is incurred.

Subsequent development expenditure is capitalized as an intangible asset where it represents a "substantial iImprovement’
of the existing software assets, in the context of paragraph 8 of 1AS 38 'Intangible Assets’ and all the critena specified by
paragraph S7 of 1AS 38 for capitalization have been met.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there 1
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amoertisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to
modify the amortisation period or method, as approgpriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the income statement as the expense category
that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the \ncome statement when the asset is derecognised.

Deveiopment costs
Development expenditures on an individual project are recognized as an intangible asset when the Group tan demonstrate:

*  The technical feasibility of comptleting the intangible asset so that the asset will be availabte for use or sate
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset

How the asset will generate future economic benefits

The avaliability of resources to compiete the asset

The abiiity to measure reliably the expenditure during development

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when development is complete and the
asset /s available for use. it is amortised over the period of expected future benefit Amortisation is recorded in cost of sales.

During the period of development, the asset is tested for impalrment annually,
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Purchased and internaily generated software
Intangible assets include both purchased and internally generated software and various licenses of minor value. Intangible

assets acquired separately are measured on Initial recognition at cost. Internally generated software includes costs such as
payroll, materials and services received and any other expenditure directly incurred in deveioping computer software and
applications in order to bring the software and applications into their intended use. Amaortisation of internally generated
software is included in the income statement under cost of sales

Amortisation
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
e Purchased software: 3- 8 years
« Internally generated software: 3-5 years
s« Patents and tracdernarks: 15 years
« Customer relationships: 8 -15 years
+ Non-compele agreement: 1-5years

{i) Financial instruments

i} Financial assets
Initial recognition and meosurement
Financial assets within the scope of 1AS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and

receivables, held-zo-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as heoging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial

recognition.

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value pous transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded
at fair vaiue through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require deiivery of assets w:thin a t me frame established by reguiation or
convention In the market place {regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits

to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables and loans and other
receivabies.

Subsequent meosurement- Loans ond receivables
Loans and recewvabies are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an

active market. After initial rmeasurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. Amortised cest is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognized 1n the income statement in finance costs
for loans and in cost of sales or other operating expenses for receivahles.

Derecognition
A financial asset {or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Group of simiiar financial assets) s derecognised
when:
e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired
= The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asser or has assumed an obiigation to pay the
received cash flows in full withou® material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b} the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset
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When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognized to the extent of the Group's continuing invoivement in the asset. In that case, the Group aiso recognizes an
associated hability The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

ii} Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a Group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a Group of financial assets Is deemed to be impaired if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred since the initiaf recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss
event') and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the Group of financial
assets that can be rejiabiy estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a Group of debtors
15 experiencing significant financia' difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principai payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial rearganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the esumated future cash flows, such as changes 1n arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults,

Finoncial assets carried at amortised cast

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of wmpairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. !f the Group determines that no ohjective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a Group of financial assets with simitar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is abjective evidence that snimpairment 10ss has been incurred, the ammouns of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding ‘uture expected credit
losses tnat have not yet been incurred) The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment

loss is the current EIR.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an aliowance account and the Joss 1s recognized in profit ar
ioss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpese of measuring the impairment loss, The inlerest income is recerded as
finance income in the income statement. Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there 1s no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred te the Group I, in a
subsequent year, the amaunt of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after
the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment [oss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in the income statement.

jil} Financial labillties

Initial recognition and measurement

Financizi habilities within the scope of 1AS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, [oans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effactive hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines
the classificatian of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, In the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial Kabilities include trade and other pavables, bank agverdrafts, ioans and borrowings, and financial
guarantee contracts.
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Subsequent measurement - Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing icans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR

method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR
amortisation process,

Amortised cost is calculated by taking Into account any discount or premium onh acquisition and fees or costs that are an
Integral part of the EiR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the income statement

Derecognition
A financial llability is derecognized when the obligation under the Lability is discharged or cancelied, or expires. When an

existing financiai liabiflity is repfaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or moedification is treatad as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of 2 new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the income

statement.

iv} Offsetting of financial instruments
Financiat assets and financiai liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial

position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, to realize the assets and settle the fiapilities simultaneousiy.

v) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in actlve markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to

quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any
deduction for transaction costs

For financial instrurnents not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using approp-iate valuation technigues

Such technigues may include;
*  Using recent arm’s iength market transactions
+ Refarence to the current fair value of another instrument that is suhstantially the same

* Adiscounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models

(k) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reperting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. f any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverahle amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s {CGU) fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use. Recoverable amaunt is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows

that are largely independent of those from other assets or Groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset Is considered impaired and is written down 10 ts recoverabie amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to thair present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 'n determining fair

value less costs te sell, recent market transactions are taken into atcadnt, if no such transactions can be Identified, an
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corrobaorated by valuation rnultiples, quoted share prices for

publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately for
each of the Group's CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generaily
cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calcutated and applied to project future cash flows

after the fifth year

Impairment iosses of continuing operations are recagnized in the incame statement in expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset, except for a property previcusly revalued when the revaluation was taken to other
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment Is also recognized in other comprehensive income up to the amount of
any previous revaluation,

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previousty recognized impairment lasses no langer exist or have decreased. f such indication exists, the Graup estimates the
asset’s or CGU's recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in
the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recaverable amount since the {ast impairment (oss was recognized. The
reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recaverable amount, nor exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no Impairment {oss been recognized for the asset In prior
years. Such reversal is recognized in the income statement dniess the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case,
the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

The following assets have specific characteristics for impairment testing:

Gaodwiil
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at 31 December and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may

be impaired. lmpairment 1s determined for goodw.|l by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGY (or Group of CGLIs) to
which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss s
recognized. Impairment {osses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are testad for impairment annually as at 31 December either individually or at

the CGU level, as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired

(1)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term depaosits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank anc short-term deposits with a
maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consclidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above, net of cutstanding bank overdrafis excluding restricted cash,

{m) Share capital

Share capital represents the par value of the Company’s shares In issue. Any excess of the fair value of the consideration
received over the par value of the shares 1ssued is recognized as the “share premium” in shareholders’ equity [ncremental
external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity, net of

tax,
4. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended standards and interpretations
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current year. Their adoption has
not had any significant impact an the amounts reported In these financial statements but may impact the accounting for
future transactions and arrangements:

- 1FRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

- IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

- IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

- IFRS 16 Leases

iFRS 9 Financial Instruments

- 1AS 27 {revised) Separate Financial Statements

- IAS 28 (revised) Investments ir Assoc.ates and Joint Ventures

- |1AS 32 [amended) Financial instruments: presentation

- 1AS 39 (amended} Financial instruments: recognition and measuremeant
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5. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgerrents, estimates and assumptions that
affect the repgrted amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilitles, and the accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the assats or liabilities

affected In future periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have

the most significant effect on the amounts recagnized in the consalidated financial statements:

Acecounting for the Group reorgonization
The accounting for this transaction invalved significant management judgement in selecting an appropriate accounting

poficy to apply. Further details are given, as described, in note 2{b}{#),

internally generated software
Development costs relating to internally generated software are capitalized in accordance with the accounting policy in Note

3{i}. Initial capiralization of costs 15 based on management’s judgement that technoiogical and econom.c feasibility is

confirmed

Intangible assets acquired in o business combinotion

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognized separate.y from goodwill are initially recognized at their
fair value at the acquisition date {which is regarded as thelir cost). Subsequent to inital recagnition, Intangible assets acquired
in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. In estimating the fair vaiue of these assets the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the valuations. The Chief Financial Officer works closely with the gqualified external
valuers to estabiish the appropriate valuation technigues and inputs to the model. Information about the intangible assets

acquired in business combinations are disclosed in note 14 “Intangible assets”,

Provision for income taxes and unaudited tax years

Uncertainties exist with respect to certain interpretation of the tax regulations and the amount ang timing of future taxable
income. Given the wide range of international business relationships and the long-term nature and complexity of exlsting
contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to
such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense already recorded. The Group establishes
provisions, based on reascnable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective
countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience of pravious tax
audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such differences
of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective Group
companies’ domicile. As a result of the above the Group has established provisions for unaudited tax years, the carrying
amount of which as at 31 December 2018 is €40.000 (2017: €165.000).

Deferred tox assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profit will be available

against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgement is reguired to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can berecognized, based upon the likely timing and the levei of future taxabie profits together with future tax

planning strategies.

The deferred tax assets recognized on losses carried forward amounting to €8.854 (2017. €8.854) and refer to certain
affiliates of the Company, for which sufficient taxable profits are anticipated in arder for this asset to be recovered. if these
affiliates do not generate future profits, the deferred incame tax asset wili have ta be written off as income tax expense.
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©On the other hand, the Group has tax losses carried forward of £8.319.844 {2017: €7.215.116) for which no deferred tax asset
has been recognized due to the uncertalnty of future taxable profits occurring given the current facts and circumstances.
Further details are given in Note 10.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and labillties within the next financial
year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters avaliable when the consolidated
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptians about future developments, however, may
change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group, Such changes are reflected in the
assumptions when they occur.

impairment of trade and other receivabies

The Group’s management periodically reassesses the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful receivables in conjunction with
its credit policy and taking into consideration reports from its iegal advisors, which are prepared follow/ng the processing of
historical data and recent developments of the cases they are handiing. Mareover, the Group determines if there Is any
abjective evidence of impairment of recelvable amounts by considering factors such as the probability of insolvency or
significant financial difficutties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivahles as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is disclosed in Notes 16

and 17.

Impairment of Goodwili
Determining whether Goodwilil Is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which

goodwill has been allocated. The valye in use calculations requires management to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Far further information
related to impairment of Goodwill please refer to Note 13.

‘\"\'u’; o

{}] Standards adopted in the year

During the year, the Group and Company has adopted IFRS 9 Financia! Instruments and tFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers from 1 January 2018. Their adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these
financial statements but may impact the accounting for future transactions and arrangements:

- {FRS ¥ - Financial Instruments effective for accounting period commencing on or after 1 fanuary 2018.
The Group anhd Company adopted 'FRS 9 from 1 January 2018 with retrospective effect in accordance with the
transitional provisions.

IFRS 9 supersedes IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedge
accounting. IFRS 9 introduces a new forward-looking impairment model based on expected credit losses to replace
the incurred loss model in 1AS 39. This determines the recognition of impairment provisions as well as interest
revenue.

The Group and Company's principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents and recefvables,

The Group and Company has assessed the impact of iFRS 9 on the impairment of its financial assets, Including the
trade receivables balance. The Group revised its impairment methodology to the simplified approach of the
expected credit loss model based on default rate percentage of similar product type assets (provision matrix) and
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6. Standards {continued)

(i)

grouped the trade receivables based on shared characteristics, including line of business, and days past due. Based
on the Group and Company’s historical credit loss experience the adoption of IFRS 9 causes o material impact on
the financial statements, so the prior year financial statements have not been restated.

While cash and cash equivaients are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

{FRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers which were effective for accounting pericds commencing on 1
January 2018.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 from 1 January 2018 which has resulted in changes in accounting policies but not to
any adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

IFRS 15 i5 a prescriptive standard which requires a business to identify the performance obligations which are
cantracted with its customer base, The transaction price of the contract is determined after which the transaction
price is allocated against the dentified performance obligations. Revenue 15 recognised against each of the
performance obligations as they are satisfied and as control is transferred. The Group evaluated the revenue
recognition policy in place against the requirement of the standard and determined that there is no material impact
on the adoption of IFRS 15.

There have been no other standards adopted that have had a material impact on the financial statements and nc
standards adopted in advance of their implementation date.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective

IFRS 16- Leases
IFRS 16 supersedes JAS 17 Leases and introduces a new single lessee accounting mode! which eliminates the current

distinction between operating and finance leases for lessees. IFRS 16 will primarily affect the accounting for the
Graup's operating leases and is effective for the next accounting period. As at the reporting date, the Group has
non-cangellable operating lease commitments of €656,036 as disclosed in note 26. Under IFRS 16, the obligations to
pay the future leases rentals over the outlined expected {ease term will be recognised as a lease liability {current
and non-current) discounted at the incremental borrowing rate with a corresponding right of use asset also being
recognised in the statement of financial position. Whilst there will be a material change in

gross assets and liabilities, as a resuit of recognising the leases as right-of-use assets and liabilities, for the change in
accounting policy, it is not anticipated that there will be a material impact on net assets. Additionally, whilst the
depreciation an the right of use asset and the interest on the finance liability would be different to the present
operating iease charge, it 1s not expected to have a material impact on the reported result in the statement.

The Group and Company will adopt the standard in the financial year ending 31 December 2019,
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet

effective and, in some cases, have nat yet been adopted by the EU. There are no other standards issued not yet
effective that will have a material effect on the financial statements,
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EBITDA is defined by adding back to {or subtracting from} profit after tax, income tax, finance costs, finance income and

depreciation & amaortisation expenses,

The table below presents a reconciliation from (Loss)/Profit after income tax to EBITDA:

Group

2018 2017

{Loss}/Profit after income tax {2.549.113) {2.057.738)
income tax {2.232.003) 661.259
Finarice costs £6.941.813 8.551 447
Finance incame {994.030) {907.487)
Depretiation and amortisation 17.064.961 14.401.820
18.231.628 20.682.301

EBITDA

Adjusted results, which are non-GAAP financial measures, are presented in the accompanying financial statements in order
to improve investors understanding of financial results and improve comparability of financial information from pencd to

period.

The tabie below presents the adjusted amounts to the Group's financial results for the year ended 31 Decermnber 2018 and

2017:
Group

2018 2017
Employees share incentive plan expense . -
Non-exetutive directors share based payments - -
Acquisition costs from business combinations - -
Gains from disposal of investments {6.050] -
Adjustments to EBITDA {6.050) -
Amortisation of assets identified in business combinations 1.150.349 1.150.349
Adjustments to operating profit 1.144.299 1.150.349
Gain from disposal of financial asset - 838.964
Unw:nding of loan notes discount 5.134.124 4,753.356

Deferred tax income on amortisation of the assets identified in business
combinations {352.555) {352.555)
5.925.868 6.643.247

Adjustments to profit after income tax

Reconciliation of the adjusted results for the year ended 31 December 2018,

Group 2018
Income Statement  Adjustments  Adjusted results
EBITDA 18.231.628 {6,050} 18.225.578
Operating profit/{loss) 1.16€ 667 1.444 299 2.310.966
Profit/{Loss) after tax {2.549.113}) 5.925.868 3.376.755
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Reconciliation of the adjusted results for the year ended 31 Decermnber 2017:

Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Group 017
Income Statement  Adjustments  Adjusted results
EBITOA 20.689.301 - 20.689.301
Operating profit 6.287.481 1.150.345 7.437.830
Profit after tax {2.057.738) 6.643.247 4.585.509
Geographic Information
The Company being only the holding company af the Group has no operations in the country of domicile.
Group
2018 2017
Eurape 76.003,941 55,703 250
Latin America 22.638.078 23.945.304
Middle East and Africa 24.053.983 14.009.015
Asla 51.560.269 70.779.643
Total revenues 174.256.271 164.437.213
do ' v
(Loss}/Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Net foreign exchange [gains}/losses (177.669) 1.063.830 133,644 {9.822)
Depreciation of property plant and equipment 573 677 561.982 - -
Loss/{Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment {3.038} 4.281 -
Amaortisation of intangible assets 16.491.284 13.829.838
Decrease in fair value of investment
property {6.000) 19.800 - .
Payroll and related costs 4.324,801 4.971.719 72.097 70.064
Devalapment costs capitalised {1.136.390) (1.558.904) - -
Impairment loss recognised on trade and other
recelvables 126.727 200.134 - -
{Gain)/loss on disposal of investments {660.240) -
Operating iease rentals 497.623 624.341 -
Income from Investment property {10.800) {10.800) -
Total 20.680.215 19.309.114 205.741 60.242
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Payroil and related costs in the accompanying income statements are analyzed as follows:

Group _ Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
Wages and salaries 3.510.561 4.215.035 72.097 70.064
Social security costs 513.642 624,858 - .
Staff retirement Indemnities 65.928 34,947 -
Other staff costs 234671 96.880 -
Total 4.324.801 4.971.719 72.097 70.084
Less: Amounts capitalised (1.151.225} (1.075.254) . .
Total 3.173.576 3.896.466 72.097 70.064

The Group's number of employees as at 31 December 2018 amounted to 119 {2017: 149}, The number of employees were

made up as follows:

Group

2018 2017
Administratian 31 35
International Gperations 51 64
IT and software development 37 50
Total 119 149

The remuneration of the auditors included in the in the accompanying income statemants is analyzed as follows:
Group

1018 2017
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company's annual accounts: 12.000 B5.748
Fees payable to the Company’s audltar for other services: 11,250
Fees payable to the Other group auditars for the audit of the Company’s subsidlaries: 209.868 198.433
Total 239,118 284.181

. Fiaange{iosisifincome
Finance (costsj/income in the accompanying financial statements are analyzed as follows:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

interest on short term barrowings {Nate 21) {492.400) (287.813) {15.296) -
Interest on long term borrowings (Note 21} {244 896) (84.468) {234.575) -
Revaluation of financial assets . {253.133) - -
Loss on disposal of financial asset. - {838.964) -
Exchange differences {B15.218) (1.935.220} {133 644} -
Other finance costs (255.175}) (438.492} {22.708) (14.173)
Unwinding of loan notes discount (5.134,124) (4.753.356) (5.134.124}  {4.753.356)
Total finance {costs) {6.941.813) {8.591.447) {5.540.346) (4.767.529)
Interest earned 1.143 36.097 . -
Dividend Income . - 16.628.050 -
Exchange differences 992.887 871.390 - 9.822
Total finance income 994.030 507.487 16.628.050 9.822
Total finance [costs), net {5.947.783) {7.6B3.960) 11,087.704 (4.757.707)

33



internet
n INTERNETQ GROUP LTD Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018

cen i

The amounts of income taxes which are reflected in the accompanying income statements are 2nalyzed as follows:

Group Campany
2018 2017 2018 2017
Current income taxes - UK . . R
Current incorne taxes - Overseas B76 13.346
Deferred tax (2.232.879} 647.913 - -
Total {credit)/charge for income taxes {2.232.003} 661.259 - -
The reconclliation of income taxes reflected in the income statements and the amount of income taxes determined by the
application of the Company’s statutory tax rate to pretax income is summarized as follows:
Groug Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
{Loss)/[Profit) bafore income taxes {4.781.116) (1.395.479) 11.010.592 (4.837.482)
Income tax calculated at the neminal anplicable rate
(20%) (2017: 20%) {956.223) {279.295) 2.202.118 {967.496)
Effect of incorme/loss subject to different tax rates (1.704.844) {1.363.942)
Tax effeFt on non-tax deductible expenses and non- 1.950.672 1.852.543 (2.202.118) 967.496
taxable income
Tax effect on tax losses for which ne deferred tax was 413775 451.954 )
recoghised
Adjustment to tax charge In respect of prior years 10.348 -
Total (credit)/charge for Income taxes {2.232.003) 661.259 - -

Current income tax

The Company is obliged Yo file its tax returns in accordance with the applicable tax law in England and Wates. No income t1ax
is payable by the Company on the net Income deriving from subsidiaries with foreign operations. The Group’s subsidiaries

file thelr tax returns in the countries in which they are established and/for operate.

Deferred tax
The movement of the deferred tax assets and liabilities, net is as follows:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Opening bakance {2.554.098) {1.851.200) - -
Net liabilities disposed from sale of subsidiaries - {14.985) .
Charge for the year 2232879 (647.913) - -
Closing balance {321.219) {2.554.038} - -
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The detailed movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 is as

foilows:
1January ?::::‘:?:::z Disposals of 31 December
2018 subsidiaries 2018
of income

Deferred tax assets
Accrued expenses 64.860 {12.236} 52.423
Tax losses carried forward 8.854 - 8.854
Provision for doubtful receivables 90.700 [6.777} 83.923
Total 164.414 1.926.517 - 2,090,931
Deferred tax Habilities
Deferred costs . (1.788) - (1.786)
Accrued income (56.209} (8.020) (64.229)
Capitalisation of internally generated software (36.387) (36.387}
Intangible assets recognised from acquisition {1.421.123) 342,555 - (1.068.568)
Utilised capital 2liowances on tax incentive plans (1.241.180) - . (1.241.180)
Tota) {2.718.512) 305,362 - (2.412.150)
Deferred tax asset/{Hability} net (2.554,098) 2.232.879 - {321.219)
Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:
Deferred tax assets 138,357 B25.354
Deferred tax liabllities (2.692.455) [1.146.573)
Deferred tax {2.554.098) {321.219)

The deferred tax assets recognized over tax losses carried forward, refers to one company of the Group for which sufficient
taxable profits are anticipated in order for these assets to be recovered. On the other hand, the Group has tax losses carried
forward of €8.319.844 (2017: €7.215.116); however, no deferred tax Is recognized due to the uncertainty of future taxable

profits occurring given the current facts and circumstances.
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Netwark
Furniture equipment
m r::.::::lt: and other Tran:::ﬂrt:tion and Total
P equipment cornputer
hardware
Cost
At 1 January 2017 861.881 1.043.370 315.192 4.076.556 6.296.999
Additions 27.000 20.425 40.580 674314 762.319
Disposais from sale of subsidiaries - - - {1.003.855} (1.003.955)
Disposals/ write offs - {5.493) (54.418) {10 474) {70.385)
At 31 December 2017 888.881 1.058.302 301.354 3.736.441 5.984.978
Adgitlons 8.059 13.000 4931 25.990
Disposals from sale of subsidlarles - - . -
Disposals/ write offs {4.435) - [65.163} (1.792) {71.390)
At 31 December 2018 884.446 1.066.361 249,181 3.739.580 5,939,578
Depreclation
At 1 January 2017 (471.166} {772.213) {127.121) (2.B59.815) (4.230.315)
Depreciation expense {76 820) {55.063) (37.942} (392.087) {561.982)
Disposals from sale of subsidiaries - - 996083 996.083
Disposals/ write offs - 461 7.196 9.706 17.363
At 31 December 2017 {548.056) (B26.815) {157.867) (2.246.113) (3.778.851)
Depreciation expense (51.553) (50.933} (34,723} {436.468) (573.677)
Disposals from sale of subsidiarles - - . - -
Dispgsals/ write offs 933 38.469 1.512 40.914
At 31 December 2018 [598.676) (877.748) {154.121} (2.681.069) (4.311.614)
Net book value at 1 January 2017 390.715 271.157 188.071 1.216.781 2.066.684
Net book value at 31 December 2017 340.825 231.487 143.487 1.490.328 2.206.127
Net book value at 31 Decemhber 2018 285.770 188.613 95.070 1.058.511 1.627.964
There fs no property, plant and equipment that has been pledged as security against loans and barrowings.
b wesl vty o osoosl aoen
The movement of the Company's investment is analyzed as follows:
Company .
2018 2017
Opening balance 91.848.162 91 848 162
Additions {Akazoo Ltd) 10.976.454 -
102.824.615 91.848.162

Closing balance

InternetQ Group Ltd acquired all the shares of the former InternetQ Plc entity (renamed internetQ Ltd after delisting in 2016,
renamed to Minimob Ltd in 2017}, The total humber of shares in Issue of InternetQ Plc as at date of delisting were 40.390.238
shares, which were valued at 1.80 GBP (91.8mll furo equivalent on delsiting date) as per the Cash Offer document.
On 21 December 2018 Minimob Ltd transferred its shareholding of 2.780,661 Ordinary A Shares of 1 pence each in Akazoo

itd to the Company.
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The Company’s directly & indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 & 31 December 2017 are listed below-

Entity Fountry of Date of incargoration Owmership Interest
incorporation 2018 2017
InternetQ Plc (renamed to InternetQ Ltd in
2016, renamed to Minimob Ltd i 2017) UKk October 2010 100% 100%
Interrety Telecommunication and Internet services S.A Greece March 2000 100% 100%
Acalendra Enterprises Limited Cygprus April 2007 100% 100%
InternetQ Poland SPzoc Potand January 2009 100% 100%
Escape Mobile Diaiogue LTD Greece September 2010 99.70% 99.70%
InternetQ Southeast Asia PTE LTD (renamed to Minimob Pte Ltd} Singapcre June 2011 100% 100%
tobile Entertainment Salutions LTD LK March 2012 100% 180%
Isr::‘r;:rtl?::\;se;)ong Co LTD(renamed to Adspin Technology Hong Kong October 2012 100% -00%
internel Germany GmbH Germany August 1935 100% 100%
Mobile Works Latam tLC De’aware USA Mareh 2012 100% 100%
Mobile Warks Belize LLC Belize Marech 2012 100% 100%
interace! Holdings LLC* Delaware USA July 2006 - 100%
Up Mabtle Holdings INC Panama April 2014 100% 100%
Up Mobile Services VI BV1 April 2012 100% 100%
Minimob (CY) Ltd Cyprus April 2015 100% 100%
InternetQ iInvestments Ltd Cyprus September 2015 100% 100%
Akazoo Ltd UK June 2008 67.73% 67,73%
Akazoo 5.A Greece May 2015 657,73% 67,73%
Akazoo {CY) Ltd Cyprus April 2015 67,73% 67,73%
Akazoo DWC UAE August 2015 67,73% 67,73%
Akazoe SPzoo Poland June 2015 67,73% 67.73%
Akazoo Music Ltd Ghana Ghana August 2018 67,73% 67,73%
Akazoo Cameroon Cameroon January 2017 67,73% 67,73%
Akazoa Ltd Mauritius November 2016 67,73% 57,73%
Akazeo Ukraine LLC Ukraine July 2016 £72,73% 67,73%
Polyphonic Human Medig Interface 5.1 Spain July 2008 &7,73% 57,73%
Music Intelligence Sclutions Inc. Usa Qctober 2005 67,73% 67,73%
R&R Music Ukraine Ukraine fune 2008 67,73% 67,73%

*Subsidiary cancelled on 13,/06/2018

InternetQ Group Limited has provided statutory guarantees to Minimob Limited in accordance with Section 473C of the

Companies Act 2006.

Minimob Limited is exempt from audit by virtue of Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006.
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The movement of Goodwill is analyzed as follows:

Groug
2018 2017

Closing baiance 20.668.153 20.668.153

Impalrment testing of goodwill

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at each year end. We allocate goadwill to our operating segments. These are the lowest
tevel within the Group at which the management manitors goodwill for internal purposes. Management monitors the
business in twe distinct operating segments namely Akazoo and Non-Akazoo. The aggregate carrying amount of goodwill s
allocated to the Non-Akazoo operating segment.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, ar rore freguently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired. Management determines the recoverable amount of Group’s CGUs, by using value in use calculations. The key
assumptions for these calculations refate to discount rates, growth rates and expected gross margins. Management has
estimated the discount rate using the Group’s weighted average cost of caplital ("WACC'). The estimates of gross margins are
based on past experience and the management’s expectations of future changes in the market.

Subsequent to sale of the Akazoo segment in 2019 , moving forward the group will review its impairment based on Non
Akazoo Revenues only.

The cash flow projectlons are based on financial budgets covering a five-year period derived from the Group’s most recent
financial and strategic plans approved by management, and extrapolate cash flows beyond this period using estimated

grawth rates. The annual growth rates applied is 6% to cash flaws in the five year financiaf and strategic planning period. The
pre-tax WACC applied to cash flow projections [s 11,5% (2017: 12%) and the average gross profit margin applied in Non-

Akazoo operations is 20%.

The assumptions used to determine value in use for these CGUs are as follows:

" . Short term growth rates Long term growth rates
A_:-Ijusted discount rate (CAGR) (_CAGR)
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
11,5% 12% 5% 13% 6% 13%

Non-Akazoo operations

As a result of this test, the Group has not recognised any impairment charge against goodwill.
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Intangibie assets in the accompanying financial statements of the Group are analysed as follows:

Licenses Intarnal Software
and P::::‘:’:: generate': under rel?:::::;: Total
patterns software development
Cost
At 1 January 2017 1.510,162 63.573.830 16.279.705 5.162.074 2.921.500 89.447.271
Additions 576.000 17.315.374 1.445.146 494.177 - 19 831.297
Disposals from sale of subsidiaries . {100.745) {118.380) - {219.125)
Transfers (230.000) 4,991,423 598,585 {5.590.015} - (230.002}
At 31 Decemnber 2017 1.856.182 85.779.887 18.323.436 {51.544) 2,921,500 108.829.441
Additlons . 16.989.440 1.095.855 4.530.259 - 22.615.554
Transfers - (286.440) 236.440 - .
At 31 December 2018 1.8586.162 102.769.326 19.132.852 4,765.156 2,921.500 131.444,995
Amortisation
At 1 January 2017 {508.800) {28.314.262) (8.239.520) - {1.052.249) (38.114.921)
Amgertisation (115.735) {11.765.831} (1.657.630} . (300642} (13.839.838)
Disposals from sale of subsidiarles - 41.487 - - - 41,487
At 31 December 2017 {624.625} {40.038.606) {9.897.150) . {1.352.891) (51.913.272)
Amortisation [147.055} (13.683.415) {2.360.170) - (300.642) (16 491.284)
At 31 December 2018 {771.680) {53.722.023) {12.257.319) - {1,653.534) (68.404.557)
Net book value at 1 January 2017 1.001.272 35.259.568 8.040.185 5.162.0724 1.869.251 51.332.35C
Net book value at 31 December 2017 1.231.537 45.741.281 8.426.286 (51.544) 1.568.609 56.916.169
Net book value at 31 December 2018 1.084.482 49.047.304 6.B75.531 4,765.156 1.267.966  63.040.438
For the year ended 31 December 2018, total capital expenditure amounted to €22.6 million (2017: €29.8 million} and relates
mainly to the development of the Minimob piatform {€11.2 million) and the Akazoo music platform {€11.4million).
Customer relatlonships and non-compete ggreements
Customer relationships refer to the intangible assets recognized separately from the acquisition of InternetQ Germany GmbH.
The relative amortisation of these assets commenced on the respective acquisition date.
! M RS TR [
Non-current financial assets for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are analyzed as follows:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Long term loans and recelvables
Recelvable from sale of subsidiaries 109.627 109.527 - -
Non-current financial assets 109.627 109.627 - -

The receivable from the sale of subsidiaries refers to the sale of subsidiaries that took ptace in November 2016.
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Trade receivables in the accompanying financial statements are analyzed as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Domestic and foreign custamers 54.766.499 62.901.286 - .
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable {344.800) (297.803) -
Closing balance 64.421.699 62.603.583 . .
LR BRI
Prepayments and other recelvables in the accompanying financial statements are analyzed as follows:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Other tax advances 262 9907 284.091 -
Advances to service providers 1.672.562 1.898.621 -
Prepaid expenses 163,608 286.920 -
Actrued income 1.041.321 4,519,600 - -
Amounts due from related patties . 27.264,137 12.899.032
Other dahtors 156.960 174.411
3.298.358 7.163.641 27.264,137 12.899.032
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable (2.616.584) {1.581.124) -
Total 1.681.759 5.582.517 27.264.137 12.899.032
I € [ ot _
Cash and cash equivaients and restricted cash in the accompanying financlal statements are analyzed as follows:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
{ash on hand 232,712 232,895 - -
Cash at banks 1.777.357 3.476.082 - 2.131
Total cash and cash equivalents 2.010.068 3.708.977 - 2,13t
Restricted cash . - .
Tatal cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 2.010.069 3.708.977 - 2.131

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on monthly bank deposit rates. Interest earned on cash at banks and
time deposits is accounted for on an accrual basis and for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to €1,133 {2017;
€3.539} for the Group, and is intluded In financial income (note 9) in the accompanying income statement.

There are no funds deposited as collateral for the issuance of bank guarantees arlsing In the ordinary course of the business
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Ownership structure of internetQ Plc as at 31 March 2016, date of defisting was as follows:

No of shares % holding
Pitragon Investments Ltd 18.508.750 45,82%
Tosca Mid Cap 860.607 2,13%
Tosca Opportunity 2.186.111 5,41%
The Pegasus Fund Lirmited 264,552 0,66%
Others 18.570.218 45,98%
Total 40.390.238 100,00%

Following the delisting of InternetQ Pic, the Company became the legal parent of Minimob Ltd {formerly InternetQ Plc, named
InternetQ Ltd after delisting). The purchase of alt the shares of InternetQ td occurred via cash settlement, issue of shares

and lvan notes within the newly created entity, InternetQ Group Ltd (see note 22).

Between 23 March and 31 May 2016, a total of 7.645.600 ordinary shares were issued in InternetQ Group Ltd to the four

shareholders at a nominal vaiue of 0,01GEP,

The ownership structure of InternetQ Group Ltd after delisting of InternetQ Plc was as follows:
Noof A NoofB

Ordinary Ordinary Total Voting
rights
shares shares
Pitragon investments Ltd 3.331.575 3.331 575 43,57%
Tosca Dpportunity 2.810.194 2.810.154 36,76%
Tosca Mid Cap 1.158.769 1.158.769 15,16%
The Pegasus Fund timited 345.062 345.062 4,51%
Total 3.331.575 4,314,025 7.645.600 100,00%
The Company’s ownership structure as at 31 December 2018 Is set out below:
Noof A Nop of B
Ordinary Ordinary Total \':;I;z
shares shares
Pitragon Investments Ltd 4.314.025 4.314.025 50,00%
Tasca Opportunity 2.810.194 2.810.194 32,57%
Tosca Mid Cap 1.158.769 1.158.769 13,43%
The Pegasus Fund Limited 345.062 345.062 4,00%
Total 4.314.025 4.314.025 8.628.050 100,00%
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The Company’s equity analysis as a1 31 Decernber 2018 is set out below:

Common
No of c:h?tr:l SI:::: Merger rellef  control merger Yotal
shares P prem reserve € reserve €

€ € €
At 1 January 2017 B.628.050 108.055 1.163.455 9.533.962 34.203.776  45.009,247
?Vecognmon of loan nates at [nception at 84.030 84.030
Derivative financial lizbility (2.867.137) (4.867.137)
At 31 December 2017 8.628.050 108.055 1.163.435 9,533,962 29.420.669  40.226.141
Derlvative financial lfabliity decrease 211.049 211.049
Unwinding of loan notes discount (5.305.180} {5.305.180}
At 31 December 2018 8.628.050 108.055 1.163.455 9.533.962 24.326.538 35.132.010

Merger relief reserve

In line with the requirements of s612 of Companies Act 2006, the merger refief reserve of €9.533.962 reflects the premiurm
on the 7.645.600 ordinary shares issued in the creation of InternetQ Group Ltd following the delisting of internetQ Pic.

Common control merger reserve

As explained In note 2{b}{i), following the delisting of internetQ Ltd (fermer InternetQ Plc, renamed Minimob Ltd in 2017},
InternetQ Group Ltd became the legal parent of internetQ Ltd, Having applied reverse acquisition accounting, this resulted
in a commaon control merger reserve of €4,813.904 (debit) in the Group and €34.203.776 {credit] in the Company.

The reserve represents the following items:

a) the difference between the share capital and share premium of InternetQ Ltd and the consideration of 1,80 GBP per
share of InternetQ Ltd {Group impact only)

b) the recognition of a derlvative financial liability related ta the loan notes as described in note 23 {Group and Company)

<} the recognition of interest free shareholders’ ioan notes at fair value on inception as described in note 22 {Group and
Company}
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The non-controlling Interest relates to the acquisition of R&R Music Ltd {subsequently renamed to Akazoa Ltd} during 2015,
as set out in note 12. The principal piace of business is the United Kingdom and the non-contralling interest is 32.27% {2016:
32.27%) of the share capital and voting rights,

in addition, at the time of the acquisition, InternetQ Greece had granted an option to a director of Akazoa Ltd to acquire from
InternetQ Greece 57.480 ordinary shares, representing 1.4% of the issued share capital of Akazoo Ltd. This option was
exercised on 22 December2016, thereby reducing Internet() Greece's stake in Akazoo Ltd to 67.73% [2.780.661 shares).

On 21 December 2018 Minimob (td transferred its shareholding of 2.780.661 Ordinary A Shares od 1 paerice each in Akazao
Ltd to the Company.

Group
2018 W17
Opening balance 24,543,458 22.533.212
Profit for the year ajlocated to non-controlling Interest 1.570.954 2.010.247
26.114.412 24.543.458

The Group owns 67.73% (2017: 67.73%) equity shares of Akazoo Ltd. Therefore, the Group has controf over Akazoo {1d and
Akazoo Ltd is consolidated in these financial statements.

a) Long-term laans:
Long-term loans in the accompanying financial statements are analyzed as follows:

Group
2018 07
tong-term lcans 8.625.500 475.000
Less: current portion (125.000] (375.000}
8.500.500 100.000

The Group has entered into the following loan facilitles:

« In December 2013 the Group entered into a loan agreement for a principal amount of £€4,000.000 which bears interest
at three-months Euribor plus a margin of 5.5%. The repayment of the loan s in thirty-two quarterly instalments. The
first instalment was paid in March 2014 while the last instalment was paid in April 2018,

e In March 2014 the Group entered into a {pan agreement for a principal amount of €500.000 which bears interest at
£.359%. The repayment of the loan is in twenty quarterly instaliments. The first instaliment was paid in March 2015 while
the last instaliment wilk be paid by December 2019.

e« In March 2018 the Group entered into a new credit facility agreement for the amount of €10.000.000, The facility may
be utilized as an overdraft bearing an interest of 3.15% p.a., as a money market loan bearing an interest of Eyribor plus
2.7% p.a. , for guarantees and for import letters of credit. This credit facillty has a term until 26.02.2020.

As of 31 December 2018 the balance of the money market loan was €8.500.500 .

The total interest expense for long-term borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to €244.896 (2017:
€€84.469) for the Group and is Included in financial expenses (note 9), in the accompanying consolidated income statement.
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b} Short-term loans:
The Group has short-term berrowings (overdraft facilities) with annual variable interest rates which vary from 5% to 8%.

The table below presents the available credit lines of the Company together with the utilized portion:

Group
2018 2017
Credit lines available: 4.511.797 13.250.000
Less: unused portion {669.781} {3.435.822)
Used portion 3.842.016 9.814.178
Less' unamortised [ssue costs . .
3.842.016 9.814.178

* In May 2015 the Group entered into a revelving credit facility of up to the prnncipal amount of €15.000.000 which bears
an interest of 3.167%. As of 31 December 2017 the balance was €3.900.000 bearing an interest of 2,629% and was fully

settled in April 2018.

« In March 2018 the Group entered into a new credit facliity agreement for the amount of €10.000.000. The facility may
be utilized as an overdraft bearing an interest of 3.15% p.a., as a money market loan bearing an interast of Euribor plus
2.7% p.a. , for guarantees and for import letters of credit. This credit facility has a term until 26.02.2020.

As of 31 December 2018 the available overdraft portion of the facility was €1.499.500 and the used portion by the Group

was €829.719 .

* [In August 2018 the Akazoo itd issued Convertible Loan Notes 2020 for a principal amount of €2.012.298. As of 31
December 2018 the financia! Jiability/ borrowing was €2.316.665.

The following that were pledged as collateral for the revolving credit facility were freed in April 2018:
« Share pledge from InternetQ Plc over the shares in InternetQ Telecommunications and Internet Services 5.A
Share pledge from InternetQ Telecommuhications and Internet Services $.A over the shares in MD! Mobile Dialogue
International Limited.
Share pledge from internetQ Pic over the shares in Mobile Works Latam LLC.
= Share pledge from Mobile Works Latam LLC over the shares in Interacel Heldings LLC.
s Share charge from InternetQ Plc over the shares in InternetQ South East Asfa PTE LTD.
s Share charge from interretQ South East Asia PTE LTD over the shares in InternetQ Hong Hong LTD.
Security deed from InternetQ South East Asia PTE LTD, securing amongst other assets, the IP, narnely, Minimob, Badabee

and MobiDialogue platforms.

The total interest expense for short-term borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to €492.400 {2017:
€287.213) and is included in financial expenses (Mote 9), in the accompanying income statements,
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_Sompany
2018 2017

61.497.047 56,883,518

Group .
2018 2017
Long-term shareholders Toan notes 61.497.047 56.883.518
61.487.047 56.883.518

61.497.047  56.883.518

The Ipan notes do not carry an interest charge and are due for repayment in 2023. They have been recognized on inception
at their fair value of €54.079.305 in accordance with 1AS 39. As the loan notes were part of the re-organization of the Group,
the difference between this falr value and the principal repayment amount of €90.696.407 (77.652.450 GBP) has been
recognized within the common control reserve as described in Note 19. in subsequent years, the value of the loan will

increase until it matches the principal repayment amount at the loan notes’ redemptlon date in 2023,

23, Deivative finandial Hapilay

The loan notes {note 22} issued during the year carry certain clauses which could reguire early repayment. in accordance
with IAS 39, this has resulted in a detivative financial llability which has been valued using a discounted cash flow model at
31 December 2018. The key inputs are the discount rate and probability of the clauses resufting in early repayment occurring.

e rpadde paves

Trade accounts payabie In the accompanying financial statements are analyzed as follows:

Graup Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Payables to suppliers 20.928.359 21.120.509 59.099 62.931
20.928.359 21.120.509 59.099 62.931
350 0Pwer cvreiend Hanilidls
Accrued and other current Habilities in the accampanying financial statements are analyzed as follows:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Value added tax 96,841 40.673 - -
Social security payable 115.876 131,847 -
Other taxes and duties 56.415 73425 - .
Accrued expenses 1.055.521 1822795 33.654 3878
Accrued interest 304,367 4,557 - -
Deferred income 1.784 153.464 .
Qther current liabitities §82.095 719.841 . -
2.512.899 2.946.602 33.654 3.878
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Related parties consist of companies that have a significant influence or control over the Group {shareholders) or are
companies which are owned by the Group's shareholders. All transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries, which are
related parties, are carried out at arm’s-length and have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements and are

not disclosed in this note. The Company's transactions and account balances with refated companies are as follows:
Related with Amounts Amounts

Related party InternetQ en‘::; d‘;ilf:; ': R::'::
Group Ltd Partles Parties

Minimob ttd Subsidiary 2017  12.899.032 -
2018 27.264.137 -

Tatal 2017 12.899.032 .
Toral 218 27.264.137 -

Terms and conditions with transactions with related parties:
The sales to and purchases from reiated parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length

transactions. Outstanding balances as at the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are unsecured, interest free [except
for the intercompany icans) and settlfement cccurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any

related party receivables and payables,

Salaries, fees, share based payments and share incentive plans (excluding non-cash benefits} for the members of the Board
of Directors and the senior management of the Group and the Company for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

are analyzed as follows:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Salaries and fees for executive members of the 80D 385.560 392.016
lart -| i
.;:):;r s and fees for Nan-Exerutive members of the 111.990 104.284 73.097 70.064
497.549 496.301 72.097 70.064
Salartes and fees for senior management 50.421 363.758 - -
Total 547.97¢ 860.059 72.097 70.064

The directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are analyzed as follows:

. Giroup :

2037 2017
Salarles and fees 489.310 481.967
Other benefits 8.239 14,334
Total 497.549 496.301

Remuneration of the highest pald director for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is analyzed as follows:

Group )
1018 2017
Salaries and fees 278.698 279.026
Other benefits 8.239 14.199
Totai 286.937 293.225

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group’s investment praperty is currently rented to the Company’s CFO. The rent for 2018 amounted to €12.000 (2017,
€10.800) and Is based on normal market rates and conditions. The rent is payable in @ monthly basis for the duration of the
contract. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 there were no ameounts due to the Group.
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a) Contingent liabilities
The Group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

b} Commitments

Operating leases
The Group has entered into commercial operating lease agreements for the lease of office spaces and cars. These lease

agreements have an average life of 5 to 10 years with renewai terms included in certain contracts.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017,
are as follows:

Group
2018 2017
Within one year 297,757 436.588
After one year but not more than five years 363.279 1.435.659
More than five years 232.875 232.875
Tatal 656.036 1.469.406

Guarantees
The Group has no contingent liabilities in respect of performance bank guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business,

2o Traaariaiash o etgens T owe Tdhee oo

Fair Value

The carrying amounts reflected in the accompanying statements of financial position for cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other accounts recelvable, prepayments, financial assets, trade and other accounts payable and accrued and other
current liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the relativeiy short-term maturity of these financial
instruments, The fair value of variable rate loans and borrowings approximate the amounts appearing in the statements of

financial position.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disciosing the fair value of financial instruments by vaiuation
technigue:
s Level 1: quoted {unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
« level 2; other technigques for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable,
either directly or indirectly
« Leve| 3: technlques that use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on
observatle market data

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group categorized all financial assets and liabilities in level 3 as explained
above. With the exception of contingent consideration, all othier assets and liabilities are recorded at book value which
approximates fair value. Contingent consideration is recorded at fair value which represents management’s best estirate of
the future outflow of economic benefits. With respect to the contingent consideration there is no liability.

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group has developed a risk management process to
monitor and control these risks, The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of the financial
markets and seeks to recognize potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

The Board of Directors and senior management carry out the risk management function, The Group does not undertake any
transactions of a speculative nature or which are unrelated to its activitles.
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Market risk; Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market prices comprise mainly the following types of risks: interest rate risk, currency risk,
commaodity price risk and other price risk, such 2s equity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and
borrowings and deposits. For further information, refer to the Strategic Report.

Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. With respect to the long-term borrowings,
management monitors on a constant basis the interest rate variances and evaluates the need for assuming certain positions
for the hedging of such risks.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact of the outstanding
floating rate borrowings at the end of the period on profits) to reasonable changes in interest rates, with all other variables

held constant,

Sensitivity analysis of Group’s borrowings (short and tong term) due to interest rate changes {reasonable movement of 1%).

Group Group

2018 2017
Euro- 1% 124.675 1% 100 642
-1% (124.675) -1%  {100.642)

The positive impact of interest received from deposits is excluded from the above analysis,

Credit risk: Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial lpss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities and from its financing
activities, Including deposits with banks and financial Institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial

instruments.

The Greup’s maximum exposure te credit risk, due to the failure of counter parties to perform their obligations as at 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2017 in relation to each class of recognized financial assets, is the carrying amount of those
assets as indicated in the accompanying statements of financial position.

Country risk; Country risk refers to a collection of risks associated with investing in a country. These risks, amongst others,
include political risk, economic risk, sovereign risk and transfer risk which is the risk of capital being tocked up or frozen by
government actions. Country risks can affect the business environment and consequently may adversely affect the
operations, the liquidity and the value of assets in a specific country. For further informatien, please refer to the Strategic

Report,

Considering that the Group operates In a variety of countries, it is exposed to country risks which can significantly impact the
existing business and potential growth. The Group Is currently focused on analyzing the possible negative effects from the
adverse economic climate in Greece and Cyprus and is currently evaluating solutions for mitigating these risks.

Howevar, up until now the Group estimates that the negative economic climate in Greece as well as in Cyprus will not
significantly affect overall the Group’s operations, financial position and liquidity or the Group's assets carrying values. As at
31 December 2018, revenues generated in Greece amountad to €1.4 million (2017; €0.8 million) accounting for 0,8% (2017:
0,5%} of the tatal revenues of the Group. Therefore, a decrease in revenues and profit margin generated in Greece would
not have a significant impact on the Group’s financial position and performance.
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Liquidity risk: The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate borrowing
facilities are maintained. The Group has sufficient undrawn committed and uncommitted borrowing facilities that can be

utilized to fund any potential shortfall in cash resources.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies the availability of funding through adequate amounts of committed credit
facilities, cash and cash equivalents and the ability to close out those positions as and when required by the business or

project.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of financial liabifities at 31 December 2018 and 2017 respectively, based on

contractual undiscounted payments.

More
Less than 6to 12
Group - 2018 On demand 6 months months 1to5 years thar Total
5 years
8ank debt 3.842.016 78.969 51.588 8.500.500 12.473.073
Trade payabies - 20.928.35% - 20.928.359
Accruals and other liabilities 304.367 2.206.748 . . 2511115
Total 4.136.383 23.214.075 51.588 4,500.500 - 35,912,547
More
Less than 6to 12
Group - 2017 On demand & months months 1to S years than Totat
5 years
Bank debt 9.814.178 i89.956 184.463 133.334 10.321.931
Trade payables - 21.120.508 - 21.120.509
Accruals and other liabilities 4557 2.788.5821 - 2793138
Total 9.818.735 24.099.046 184.463 133.334 - 34.235.578

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that It maintains a strong internal calculation credit
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its operations and maximize sharehofder value. The Group’s policy Is to
maintaln [everage targets in line with an investment grade profile. The Group monitors capital using Net Debt to EBITDA ratio
and establishes the desirable ranges based on the facts and circumstances at each time.

The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, less cash and cash equivalents.

. Group

2018 2017
Long-term borrowings (Note 21) 8.625.500 475,000
Short-term barrowings (Nate 21) 3.842.016 9.814.178
Total Debt 12.467.516 10.289.178
Less: Cash and cash equivalents [Note 18) {2.010.069) {3.708.977)
Net debt/({funds) 10.457.447 6.580.201
EBITDA (Note 7) 18.231.628 20.689.301
MNet debt/{funds) to EBITDA 0,57 G,32
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29. Subsaquent events

In September 2019 Akazoo completed the merger with Modern Media Acquisition Corp. raising $55 million and started
trading on Nasdaq under the ticker symbol “SONG”. The shares of Akazoo were distributed to the shareholders (Tosca Funds
and Panagiotis Dimitropoulos) and subsequently Panagiotis Dimitropoulos bought out Tosca Fund becoming the sole

shareholder of InternetQ.
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